University of Toronto Mississauga Library Archives & Special Collections



United Fruit Company fonds FINDING AID

Accession number: A2021.001

Collection/Fonds number: CA UTM F001

Prepared by T. Shida, July 2022

Processing of Spanish language material by Juan Antonio Bobadilla, funded by the Critical Digital Humanities Initiative (CDHI)'s Winter 2022 Undergraduate Student Fellowship

© University of Toronto Mississauga Library, Archives & Special Collections 2021 3359 Mississauga Road, Mississauga, ON, Canada L5L 1C6 EMAIL: utml.cds@utoronto.ca | TEL: +1 905-828-5236

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FONDS-LEVEL DESCRIPTION	2
Administrative history	2
Dates of creation	2
Physical description	2
Custodial history	3
Immediate source of acquisition	3
Scope and content	3
Accruals	3
Arrangement	3
SERIES-LEVEL DESCRIPTIONS	5
SERIES 1: GOVERNMENT RELATIONS	
SERIES 2: LABOUR & ETHNICITY	6
SERIES 3: LABOUR SUPPLY & CONDITIONS	7
SERIES 4: LABOUR ORGANIZING	8
SERIES 5: MARCUS GARVEY	9
SERIES 6: NON-THEMATIC GROUPINGS	10
SERIES 7: INTERDIVISION VISITS & REPORTS	11
SERIES 8: STATISTICS & REPORTS	12
SERIES 9: CHRONOLOGICALLY ORGANIZED LETTERS	13
SERIES 10: MAPS & PHOTOGRAPHS	14
APPENDIX: File lists	15
Series 1: Government relations	
Series 2: Labour & ethnicity	
Series 3: Labour supply & conditions	
Series 4: Labour organizing	
Series 5: Marcus Garvey	
Series 6: Non-thematic groupings	
Series 7: Interdivision visits & reports	
Series 8: Statistics & reports	
Series 9: Chronologically organized letters	
Series 10: Mans & nhotographs	

FONDS-LEVEL DESCRIPTION

Administrative history

The United Fruit Company (1899-1970) was an American corporation formed on 30 March 1899 as a result of a merger of the Boston Fruit Company (1885-1899) headed by Andrew Preston and Lorenzo Dow Baker, and the Costa Rican, Panamanian and Colombian railroad and plantation holdings of American railroad financier Minor C. Keith's Tropical Trading & Transport Company.

Headquartered in Boston, Massachusetts, Andrew Preston served as the company's first president until his death in 1924. In 1930, the United Fruit Company acquired Cuyamel Fruit Company, a competitor company headed by Samuel Zemurray. Zemurray went on to become managing director in charge of operations, then president of the company from 1938 to 1951.

By the mid-1900s, the United Fruit Company controlled (owned or leased) property made available to them by governments in multiple Caribbean and Central and South American countries including in Costa Rica, Colombia, Cuba, Guatemala, Honduras, Jamaica and Panama. The company imported products grown on plantations in Latin America (primarily bananas but also sugar, cocoa and other tropical products) transporting them to sell in North American and European markets.

Thomas E. Sunderland served as company president from 1960-1968. In 1970, the United Fruit Company merged with Eli Black's AMK Corporation, renaming this new entity the United Brands Company (1970-1989). Following the suicide and bribery scandal involving Black and company operations in Honduras, the company rebranded itself as Chiquita Brands International in 1990.

The Chiriqui Land Company was a United Fruit Company subsidiary, operating plantations in the Sixaola District in Costa Rica and the Bocas del Toro and Armuelles divisions in Panama.

References:

- Bourgois, P. (1989). *Ethnicity at work: divided labor on a Central American banana plantation.*John Hopkins Univ. Pr.
- Bucheli, M., & Read, I. (2001). *Chronology*. United Fruit Company Historical Society. Retrieved January 18, 2022 from http://www.unitedfruit.org/chron.htm
- Chiquita Brands International Inc. (1999). In D. Craft & A. Quick (Eds.), *Company Profiles for Students* (Vol. 1, pp. 285-289). Gale.
- Chiquita Brands International. (2000). Corporate responsibility report: Our complex history.
 Retrieved on January 18, 2022 from <u>Internet Archive Wayback Machine</u>

Dates of creation: 1912-2004, predominant 1918-1970

Physical description: 52 cm of textual records (4 boxes)

7 photographs: b&w; 19 x 24 cm or smaller

4 maps: 55 x 91 cm or smaller

Custodial history: Material in this fonds consists primarily of corporate records created and/or received by the Chiriqui Land Company, a United Fruit Company (UFC) subsidiary that spanned the borders of Costa Rica and Panama. UFC central headquarters in the United States of America had ordered the material to be destroyed but had been retained in an attic of a semi-abandoned warehouse of the Costa Rican Chiriqui Land Company plantation. In the early 1980s when Philippe Bourgois was doing his fieldwork, the warehouse manager gave Bourgois permission to take whatever documents he wanted back with him to the United States. In May 2019, the material was sold and transferred to the University of Toronto Mississauga Library.

Immediate source of acquisition: Purchased from P. Bourgois, 2019.

Scope and content: Fonds contains primarily corporate records created, received, or used by management within the Chiriqui Land Company. Records include correspondence, memoranda, monthly production statistics and financial reports, personnel records, annotated newspaper clippings, some maps and photographs. The fonds consists of the following series:

- Series 1: Government relations
- Series 2: Labour & ethnicity
- Series 3: Labour supply & conditions
- Series 4: Labour organizing
- Series 5: Marcus Garvey
- Series 6: Non-thematic groupings
- Series 7: Interdivision visits & reports
- Series 8: Statistics & reports
- Series 9: Chronologically organized letters
- Series 10: Maps & photographs

Accruals: No further accruals expected.

Arrangement: The original order of the records as they were maintained by the Chiriqui Land Company is unknown as this current fonds consists of only the portion that Philippe Bourgois selected from the original archive. He organized this selection into file folders, labelled and arranged them thematically in the 1980s for the purposes of his doctoral thesis and the resulting monograph *Ethnicity at Work: Divided Labor on a Central American Banana Plantation*. The themes are:

- Development of monopoly power relationships with host-country governments
- Organization of ethnic-specific strategies to increase labour control
- Repression of labor discontent and labor-union organizing

UTM Library Archives & Special Collections

United Fruit Company fonds A2021.001

Portions of the material were subsequently copied, some originals interfiled with copies, lent out, extracted then re-filed with other material, and otherwise rearranged over the years. Bourgois' 'original order' has been retained when both discernable and meaningful, but otherwise arranged by the archivist.

Restrictions on access: Restricted to protect the privacy of third parties and/or for preservation purposes. Contact the Archives & Special Collections Staff (utml.cds@utoronto.ca) for information about accessing these records.

Terms governing use, reproduction or publication: UTM Library does not own copyright. The user is responsible for obtaining permission from all applicable rights holders to publish any part of the material.

Language: English and Spanish.

Associated material:

See also the Philippe Bourgois fonds at UTM Library, Archives & Special Collections (forthcoming).

The following related collections can be found at Baker Library Special Collections, Harvard Business School, Harvard University:

- Records of companies acquired by the United Fruit Company
- Boston Fruit Company records
- United Fruit company photograph collection

Note: Processing of Spanish language material and translation of the fonds-level finding aid description into Spanish by Juan Antonio Bobadilla, funded by the Critical Digital Humanities Initiative (CDHI)'s Winter 2022 Undergraduate Student Fellowship.

Spanish language finding aid forthcoming.

Boxes: B2021.001/B001 - /B004 and A2021.001/MC01(06)-3, 4, 5, 6

UTM Library Archives & Special Collections

United Fruit Company fonds A2021.001

SERIES-LEVEL DESCRIPTIONS

SERIES 1: GOVERNMENT RELATIONS

Dates of creation: 1913-1966

Physical description: 7 cm of textual records

Scope and content: Series consists of correspondence and some reports documenting the relationship between the United Fruit Company and various levels of government in Panama and Costa Rica. These include internal company correspondence about dealings with the government as well as direct correspondence with government officials of varying ranks including presidents of the republics. Documents in this series reveal the extent of company influence vis-à-vis the governments and include correspondence related to export taxes, wages and nationality of workers, and appointment of key government officials. Another predominant subject is land appropriation and use especially around the Talamanca Valley and Sixaola River in Costa Rica, including the topic of squatters and the Bribri, the original and Indigenous inhabitants of this Costa Rican portion of the United Fruit Company's Bocas del Toro Division.

Related groups of records: See Series 6: Non-thematic Groupings and Series 9: Chronologically Organized Letters which include other documents that touch upon the same topics, and often include the originating letter or replies to letters found in this series.

Arrangement: Individual documents were placed into files by Bourgois and arranged chronologically by the archivist. Files were grouped into this thematic series by the archivist based on file title assigned by Bourgois.

Restrictions on access: Restricted to protect the privacy of third parties. Contact the Archives & Special Collections Staff (utml.cds@utoronto.ca) for information about accessing these records.

Languages: English and Spanish

Boxes: A2021.001/B001(01)-(10)

SERIES 2: LABOUR & ETHNICITY

Dates of creation: 1921-1963

Physical description: 5 cm of textual records

Scope and content: Series consists primarily of material documenting the United Fruit Company's employment of specific national and/or ethnic groups of workers, including Panamanian, Ngäbe, Kuna, Bribri and Jamaican workers. It includes material related to negotiations between Panamanian government officials regarding quotas on Panamanian workers, and material documenting the employment of laborers from Indigenous groups in Panama and Costa Rica. Of especial significance are the multiple letters between the company and Kuna leader, Cacique Olotebiliquina, as are a number of other letters that document efforts among the Ngäbe to organize their workers. Records include correspondence, reports, newspaper clippings and personnel lists.

Related groups of records: See Series 6: Non-thematic Groupings and Series 9: Chronologically Organized Letters which includes other documents that touch upon the same topics, and often include the originating letter or replies to letters found in this series.

Arrangement: Individual documents were placed into files by Bourgois and arranged chronologically within the files by the archivist. Files were grouped into this thematic series by the archivist based on file title assigned by Bourgois.

Notes: Some file titles and documents within this series contain outdated terminology to refer to peoples indigenous to the land on which the United Fruit Company operated. The Ngäbe are referred to as Guyami, Guaymi, Crimacola Indians or Ngöbe, and the Kuna are sometimes referred to as the Cuna or San Blas Indians.

Restrictions on access: Restricted to protect the privacy of third parties. Contact the Archives & Special Collections Staff (utml.cds@utoronto.ca) for information about accessing these records.

Languages: English and Spanish

Boxes: A2021.001/B001(11)-(23)

UTM Library Archives & Special Collections

United Fruit Company fonds A2021.001

SERIES 3: LABOUR SUPPLY & CONDITIONS

Dates of creation: 1919-1970

Physical description: 4 cm of textual records

Scope and content: Series consists of material generally related to labor supply and conditions on United Fruit Company plantations in Panama and Costa Rica. Topics covered include labor shortages, after hours entertainment for workers, medical coverage, wages and lawsuits against the company. Records include

correspondence, memoranda and newspaper clippings.

Related groups of records: See Series 6: Non-thematic Groupings and Series 9: Chronologically Organized Letters which includes other documents that touch upon the same topics, and often include the

originating letter or replies to letters found in this series.

Arrangement: Individual documents were placed into files by Bourgois and arranged chronologically within the files by the archivist. Files were grouped into this thematic series by the archivist based on file

title assigned by Bourgois.

Restrictions on access: Restricted to protect the privacy of third parties. Contact the Archives & Special Collections Staff (utml.cds@utoronto.ca) for information about accessing these records. The following are

restricted for preservation purposes:

• A2021.001/B001(29): Restricted for preservation purposes.

• A2021.001/MC01(06)-1: Restricted for preservation purposes.

Languages: English and Spanish

Boxes: A2021.001/B001(24)-B002(06) and A2021.001/MC01(06)-1

7

SERIES 4: LABOUR ORGANIZING

Dates of creation: 1918-1961

Physical description: 4 cm of textual records

Scope and content: Series consists of material related to the United Fruit Company's relationship to labour organizing and unions on their Costa Rican and Panamanian plantations, documenting the ways the company tracked and monitored labour organizing activity among their workers. In particular, the series includes records related to the strikes that took place in 1918, 1940s, 1950s, and 1960s, including correspondence and lists that name individual labor 'agitators' and workers deported as a result of participation in strikes. Also included are letters from or about Serafino Romualdi (1900-1967), Latin American representative of the American Federation of Labor (AFL) and Assistant Secretary of the Inter-American Regional Organization of Workers (ORIT). Records include correspondence, lists, and newspaper clippings.

Related groups of records: See Series 6: Non-thematic Groupings and Series 9: Chronologically Organized Letters which includes other documents that touch upon the same topics, and often include the originating letter or replies to letters found in this series.

Arrangement: Individual documents were placed into files by Bourgois and arranged chronologically within the files by the archivist. Files were grouped into this thematic series by the archivist based on file title assigned by Bourgois.

Restrictions on access: Restricted to protect the privacy of third parties. Contact the Archives & Special Collections Staff (utml.cds@utoronto.ca) for information about accessing these records.

Languages: English and Spanish

Boxes: A2021.001/B002(07)-(16)

SERIES 5: MARCUS GARVEY

Dates of creation: [19--]-1927

Physical description: 1 cm of textual records

Scope and content: Series consists of material documenting the United Fruit Company's evolving relationship with Marcus Mosiah Garvey Jr. (1887-1940), a Jamaican-born Black nationalist and founder of the Universal Negro Improvement Association (UNIA). Letters include detailed reports of Garvey's activities while in Panama/Costa Rica and document the UFC's eventual cooperation and support of his visit. It also includes records related to groups he was associated with, including the Negro World and the Negro Improvement Association. Records include internal UFC correspondence, a telegram from Marcus Garvey, and a blank Universal Negro Improvement Association and African Communities League certificate.

Related groups of records: See Series 6: Non-Thematic Groupings, which include some other letters related to Marcus Garvey.

Arrangement: Documents were grouped together by Bourgois, and labelled and arranged chronologically within the series by the archivist.

Restrictions on access: Restricted to protect the privacy of third parties. Contact the Archives & Special Collections Staff (utml.cds@utoronto.ca) for information about accessing these records.

Languages: English

Boxes: A2021.001/B002(17)-(20) and A2021.001/MC01(06)-2

SERIES 6: NON-THEMATIC GROUPINGS

Dates of creation: 1914-1970, 2004

Physical description: 7 cm of textual records and 2 photographs

Scope and content: Series consists of records organized into groupings by the last custodian (Bourgois), but do not appear to belong to any one thematic grouping. Material in the first half of the series appear to have been submitted for consideration to be published as part of Bourgois' 2003 article "One Hundred Years of United Fruit Company Letters." As such, individual records within this series serve as especially important representative samples of all the themes found in the other series. Of particular significance are letters and photographs identifying and targeting specific labor agitators; and internal correspondence discussing Marcus Garvey and Henrietta Vinton Davis, the first female president of the Universal Negro Improvement Association. Records include correspondence, two photographs, and a report produced by the Inter-American Regional Organization of Workers (ORIT).

Arrangement: The order of items as imposed by Bourgois has been maintained, though the material has been divided into file folders for preservation purposes.

Restrictions on access: Restricted to protect the privacy of third parties. Contact the Archives & Special Collections Staff (utml.cds@utoronto.ca) for information about accessing these records.

Languages: English and Spanish

Boxes: A2021.001/B002(21)-(27)

A2021.001

SERIES 7: INTERDIVISION VISITS & REPORTS

Dates of creation: 1921-1931

United Fruit Company fonds

Physical description: 4 cm of textual records

Scope and content: Series consists of correspondence, reports, telegrams and an official memorandum related to a somewhat formal program of exchange visits between North American managers of various tropical divisions of the United Fruit Company. Material documents the impetus and start of these interdivision visits, as well as correspondence discussing logistical arrangements and final reports for the visits. Records in the series provide insight into the lifestyles and working life of North American employees of the United Fruit Company in the 1920s, and reference a number of the steamships owned and operated by the company.

Arrangement: Original file titles have been retained, but records within the files have been arranged chronologically by the archivist.

Restrictions on access: Restricted to protect the privacy of third parties. Contact the Archives & Special Collections Staff (utml.cds@utoronto.ca) for information about accessing these records.

Languages: English

Boxes: A2021.001/B003(01)-(07)

A2021.001

United Fruit Company fonds

SERIES 8: STATISTICS & REPORTS

Dates of creation: 1918-1984

Physical description: 9 cm of textual records

Scope and content: Series primarily consists of financial, production, personnel and other business records, including a series of monthly statements from the early 1930s and company statistical records from the 1980s. Also included amongst these business records are two seemingly unrelated letters, including a handwritten letter to the company from a destitute worker requesting a plot of land to live on. Records include reports, correspondence, memoranda and translated newspaper articles.

Arrangement: Files were grouped into this thematic series by the archivist based on file titles assigned by Bourgois. The order of documents within files as imposed by Bourgois have been retained, though they have been divided into file folders for preservation purposes.

Restrictions on access: Restricted to protect the privacy of third parties. Contact the Archives & Special Collections Staff (utml.cds@utoronto.ca) for information about accessing these records. The following is restricted for preservation purposes:

• A2021.001/B003(12): Restricted for preservation purposes. Photocopy available.

Languages: English and Spanish

Boxes: A2021.001/B003(08)-(20)

SERIES 9: CHRONOLOGICALLY ORGANIZED LETTERS

Dates of creation: 1912-1971

Physical description: 13 cm of textual records

Scope and content: Series consists primarily of correspondence, but also newspaper clippings, newsletters, personnel and other lists, a poster and original and translated court orders and laws. Material in this series complements material found in thematically organized Series 1-6, as the originating letter or replies to letters found in this series can sometimes be found within the above series. As such, the records touch upon a wide variety of subjects including negotiations between company and government officials regarding labor quotas and export taxes; interactions between the company, labor unions, and workers of various ethnic backgrounds; and land appropriation and use.

Arrangement: No original order could be discerned. Material in this series was therefore organized into files by decade of creation, and arranged chronologically within the files by the archivist.

Restrictions on access: Restricted to protect the privacy of third parties. Contact the Archives & Special Collections Staff (<u>utml.cds@utoronto.ca</u>) for information about accessing these records. The following is restricted for preservation purposes:

• A2021.001/B004(09): Restricted for preservation purposes. Photocopy available.

Languages: English and Spanish.

Boxes: A2021.001/B003(01)-(15)

A2021.001

SERIES 10: MAPS & PHOTOGRAPHS

Dates of creation: c.1917-1957

United Fruit Company fonds

Physical description: 5 photographs: b&w; 19 x 24 cm or smaller

4 maps: 55 x 91 cm or smaller

Scope and content: Series consists of four maps produced by Costa Rican divisions of the United Fruit Company. Series also includes five photographs which appear to be reprints of publicity photographs acquired from the United Brands Company Headquarters in New York in the 1980s. Photographs include depictions of United Fruit Company plantations, including in Guatemala.

Restrictions on access: Maps restricted for preservation purposes. Contact the Archives & Special Collections Staff (utml.cds@utoronto.ca) for information about accessing the maps.

Languages: English and Spanish

Boxes: A2021.001/B004(16); A2021.001/MC01(06)-3, 4, 5, 6

APPENDIX: File lists

Series 1: Government relations

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/B001(01)	Government negotiations	1918-1954
A2021.001/B001(02)	Monopoly power gd but taken out	1919-1966
A2021.001/B001(03)	President Remon Panama	1954
A2021.001/B001(04)	Bocas/Talamanca: sent to historian in Costa Rica [Part 1 of 2]	1914-1920
A2021.001/B001(05)	Bocas/Talamanca: sent to historian in Costa Rica [Part 2 of 2]	1921-1927
A2021.001/B001(06)	Talamanca not Bribri + Panama border [Part 1 of 2]	1913-1920
A2021.001/B001(07)	Talamanca not Bribri + Panama border [Part 2 of 2]	1921-1922
A2021.001/B001(08)	Squatters, monthly reports [Part 1 of 2]	1918-1957
A2021.001/B001(09)	Squatters, monthly reports [Part 2 of 2]	1962-1963
A2021.001/B001(10)	Squatters	1956-1957

Series 2: Labour & ethnicity

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/B001(11)	Labor—percentage of nationals [Panamanians] employed	1928-1951
A2021.001/B001(12)	Marginal percentage Panama foreigners	1926-1963
A2021.001/B001(13)	Panamanian percentages [Part 1 of 2]	1924-1933
A2021.001/B001(14)	Panamanian percentages [Part 2 of 2]	1935-1962
A2021.001/B001(15)	Ngöbe [Part 1 of 2]	1953-1960
A2021.001/B001(16)	Ngöbe [Part 2 of 2]	1960-1963
A2021.001/B001(17)	Kuna [Part 1 of 2]	1952-1954
A2021.001/B001(18)	Kuna [Part 2 of 2]	1957-1962
A2021.001/B001(19)	Cuna gd but taken out	1952-1954
A2021.001/B001(20)	Bribri/Talamanca 1920s	1921
A2021.001/B001(21)	Indians/anthropologists	1924-1957
A2021.001/B001(22)	Labour supply & ethnicity: Blacks/Jamaicans	1918-1963
A2021.001/B001(23)	Jamaicans gd but taken out	1920-1956

Series 3: Labour supply & conditions

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/B001(24)	[Labour issues: correspondence and news clippings]	1919, 1955-
		1970
A2021.001/B001(25)	Labor policy gd but took out	1924, 1954
A2021.001/B001(26)	Labor supply gd but taken out	1921-1954

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/B001(27)	Border crossing	1918, 1954
A2021.001/B001(28)	[Labour shortages]	1941, 1954
A2021.001/B001(29)	Spanish language report on conditions Bocas [RESTRICTED]	1957
A2021.001/MC01(06)-	Original Issue of The Central American Express Bocas del	1923
1	Toro, Panama January 20, 1923 [RESTRICTED]	
A2021.001/B002(01)	Medical	1920-1956
A2021.001/B002(02)	[Medical]	1943, 1954
A2021.001/B002(03)	Insurance plan	[c. 1924]
A2021.001/B002(04)	Wages	1954
A2021.001/B002(05)	Culled carefully [wages]	1949, 1954
A2021.001/B002(06)	Law suits against Co summary by lawyers 1952	1952, 1955

Series 4: Labour organizing

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/B002(07)	Strike 1918	1918-1919
A2021.001/B002(08)	Strike 1940s not selected	1942, 1946
A2021.001/B002(09)	Strike 1950s	1953-1954
A2021.001/B002(10)	Strike 1960	1960-1961
A2021.001/B002(11)	Strikes gd but taken out	1919-1961
A2021.001/B002(12)	Unions 1940s	1946, 1947
A2021.001/B002(13)	Labor organizing	1929-1961
A2021.001/B002(14)	Labor org gd but taken out	1919-1956
A2021.001/B002(15)	Anti-communism	1960
A2021.001/B002(16)	ORIT [Organización Regional Interamericana de	1954-1956
	Trabajadores; S. Romualdi]	

Series 5: Marcus Garvey

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/MC01(06)-	[Universal Negro Improvement Association and African	[19]
2	Communities League certificate]	
A2021.001/B002(17)	[Marcus Garvey: Part 1 of 4]	1919-1927
A2021.001/B002(18)	[Marcus Garvey: Part 2 of 4]	1919
A2021.001/B002(19)	[Marcus Garvey: Part 3 of 4]	1920-1924
A2021.001/B002(20)	[Marcus Garvey: Part 4 of 4]	1922-1927

Series 6: Non-thematic groupings

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/B002(21)	[Documents and photographs submitted for Banana Wars	1919-1957,
	chapter, folder part 1 of 4]	2004
A2021.001/B002(22)	[Documents and photographs submitted for Banana Wars	1914, 1947-
	chapter, folder part 2 of 4]	1958, 1970
A2021.001/B002(23)	[Documents and photographs submitted for Banana Wars	1947-1951
	chapter, folder part 3 of 4]	
A2021.001/B002(24)	[Documents and photographs submitted for Banana Wars	1943-1951
	chapter, folder part 4 of 4]	
A2021.001/B002(25)	Assorted good not selected [Part 1 of 3]	1919-1924
A2021.001/B002(26)	Assorted good not selected [Part 2 of 3]	1919-1957
A2021.001/B002(27)	Assorted good not selected [Part 3 of 3]	1919-1957

Series 7: Interdivision visits & reports

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/B003(01)	Interdivision visits [1921]	1921
A2021.001/B003(02)	Interdivision visits [1922]	1922
A2021.001/B003(03)	Interdivision visits [1923]	1923
A2021.001/B003(04)	Interdivision visits [1924]	1924
A2021.001/B003(05)	Interdivision visits [1925]	1925
A2021.001/B003(06)	Honduras	1922
A2021.001/B003(07)	Nicaragua	1929-1931

Series 8: Statistics & reports

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/B003(08)	Stats, lists, technical reports [folder part 1 of 6]	1931-1961
A2021.001/B003(09)	Stats, lists, technical reports [folder part 2 of 6]	1958-1960
A2021.001/B003(10)	Stats, lists, technical reports [folder part 3 of 6]:	1927-1930
	Confidential - statements monthly prod'n and cost - all	
	divisions	
A2021.001/B003(11)	Stats, lists, technical reports [folder part 4 of 6]	1931-1939
A2021.001/B003(12)	Stats, lists, technical reports [folder part 5 of 6]	1918-1963
A2021.001/B003(13)	Stats, lists, technical reports [folder part 6 of 6]	1934-1971
A2021.001/B003(14)	[Stats, technical reports, and newspaper article	1918-1941
	translations]	
A2021.001/B003(15)	Monthly [and weekly] reports	1923-1939
A2021.001/B003(16)	Statistics Bocas Division [manila envelope part 1 of 5]	[198-]
	[Handwritten statistical notations 1980s]	

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/B003(17)	Statistics Bocas Division [manila envelope part 2 of 5]	1983
	[photocopies of Chiriqui Land Company export records]	
A2021.001/B003(18)	Statistics Bocas Division [manila envelope part 3 of 5]:	1981-1983
	Sixaolo statistics [folder part 1 of 3]	
A2021.001/B003(19)	Statistics Bocas Division [manila envelope part 4 of 5]:	1984
	Sixaolo statistics [folder part 2 of 3]	
A2021.001/B003(20)	Statistics Bocas Division [manila envelope part 5 of 5]:	[198-]
	Sixaolo statistics [folder part 3 of 3]	

Series 9: Chronologically organized letters

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/B004(01)	Chronologically organized: 1910s	1912-1919
A2021.001/B004(02)	Chronologically organized: 1920s	1920-1928
A2021.001/B004(03)	Chronologically organized: 1930s	1931-1938
A2021.001/B004(04)	Chronologically organized: 1940s [Part 1 of 2]	1940-1945
A2021.001/B004(05)	Chronologically organized: 1940s [Part 2 of 2]	1946-1949
A2021.001/B004(06)	Chronologically organized: 1950s [Part 1 of 5]	1950-1952
A2021.001/B004(07)	Chronologically organized: 1950s [Part 2 of 5]	1953
A2021.001/B004(08)	Chronologically organized: 1950s [Part 3 of 5]	1954
A2021.001/B004(09)	Chronologically organized: 1950s [Part 4 of 5]	1955-1956
A2021.001/B004(10)	Chronologically organized: 1950s [Part 5 of 5]	1957-1959
A2021.001/B004(11)	Chronologically organized: 1960s [Part 1 of 3]	1960-1961
A2021.001/B004(12)	Chronologically organized: 1960s [Part 2 of 3]	1962-1964
A2021.001/B004(13)	Chronologically organized: 1960s [Part 3 of 3]	1965-1969
A2021.001/B004(14)	Chronologically organized: 1970s	1971
A2021.001/B004(15)	Undated and orphan pages	n.d.

Series 10: Maps & photographs

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/B004(16)	Photographs	[19]-[194-?]
A2021.001/MC01(06)-3	Map: Talamanca Valley	c. 1917
A2021.001/MC01(06)-4	Map: Plano que indica la zona sabre la cual se localiza el	1917
	denuncio de una mina de hierro / [translation: Plan	
	indicating the area on which the claim of an iron mine is	
	located]	

File number	File title	Date range
A2021.001/MC01(06)-5	Map: Squatters in Costa Rica: Terrendo subarrendado	1957
	por Chiriqui Land Company à en Fincas No. de U.F. Co. en	
	Costa Rica	
A2021.001/MC01(06)-6	Map: Boundaries sketch of UFCo properties in Costa Rica	1956